IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant

vs.

HAROLD BEHRMAN,

Respondent/Petitioner.

Case No. 81,866

FILED SID J. MAHITE FEB 27 1995 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

On Appeal from Report and Recommendation, and Orders of Referee in Florida Bar Disciplinary Proceeding

> Kenneth D. Stern, Esquire KENNETH D. STERN, P.A. 7000 W. Palmetto Park Rd. Suite 203 Post Office Box 3878 Boca Raton, FL 33427-3878 (407) 338-3000 Fla. Bar No. 244929

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT				
I. THE REFEREE ERRED IN HIS FINDING THAT RESPONDENT DISBURSED FUNDS, IN VIOLATION OF HIS DUTIES AS ESCROW AGENT				
II. THE REFEREE ERRED IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENT DID NOT COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENT OF RULE 5-1.1(a) TO APPLY MONIES RECEIVED IN TRUST FOR THE PURPOSES ENTRUSTED, AND ERRED IN RECOMMENDING A FINDING OF GUILT AS TO SUCH VIOLATION				
III. THE REFEREE ERRED IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENT FAILED TO COMPLY WITH RULES 5-1.1(d) AND 5-1.2 (b) WHEN HE ISSUED A CHECK FROM HIS TRUST ESCROW ACCOUNT TO PAY HIS OFFICE RENT AND ERRED IN ERRED IN RECOMMENDATION				
IV. THE REFEREE ERRED IN RECOMMENDING THAT RESPONDENT BE SUSPENDED				
V. THE REFEREE ERRED IN RECOMMENDING THAT RESPONDENT PAY THE COST OF THE PROCEEDINGS				
VI. THE REFEREE ERRED IN RECOMMENDING THAT RESPONDENT MAKE RESTITUTION				
VII. THE BAR FAILED TO MEET ITS BURDEN OF CLEAR AND CONVINCING PROOF				
CONCLUSION				
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE				

TABLE OF CITATIONS

<u>CASES</u>

<i>Florida Bar v. Adams</i> , 453 So.2d 818 (Fla.1984)
<i>Florida Bar v. Allen,</i> 537 So.2d 105 (Fla.1989)
<i>Florida Bar v. Burke</i> , 578 So.2d 1099 (Fla.1991)
<i>Florida Bar v. Fitzgerald</i> , 491 So.2d 547 (Fla.1986)
<i>Florida Bar v. Jennings</i> , 482 So.2d 1365 (Fla.1986)
<i>Florida Bar v. Neely</i> , 540 So.2d 109 (Fla.1989)
<i>Florida Bar v. Pettie</i> , 424 So.2d 734 (Fla.1982)
<i>Florida Bar v. Rayman</i> , 238 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1970)
<i>Florida Bar v. Ruskin</i> , 232 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1970)
<i>Florida Bar v. Weiss</i> , 586 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1991) 21,22
<i>Slomowitz v. Walker</i> , 429 So.2d 797 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983)
<i>State v. Mischler</i> , 488 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1986)
<i>State v. Rhubottom</i> , 132 So.2d 395 (Fla.1961)

Williams v. Hunt Bros. Const., Inc., 475 So.2d 738 (Fla.2d DCA 1985) 16
STATUTES
Section 57.105(1), Fla. Stat
RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE
Fed.R.Civ.P. 11
RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR

4.3
4.4
5.2(a)
7.7
1.15(a)
8.1(a)
3.4
1.1(a)
1.1(c)
1.1(d)
1.2(b)

FLORIDA STANDARDS FOR IMPOSING LAWYER SANCTIONS

4.13	
4.14	

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

I. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

The Florida Bar on November 25, 1992 obtained an Emergency Suspension of Respondent.. On June 1, 1993 the Bar filed its complaint. On February 23, 1994, the Emergency Suspension was terminated. The hearing was held on March 28, 1994 before Referee Bernard R. Jaffe. In his June 23, 1994 Report, the Referee found Respondent not guilty of all charges alleging dishonesty, fraudulent behavior and making a false statement to the Bar; he found Respondent guilty of trust account violations and ordered restitution and payment of costs. The Bar filed a Petition for Clarification and on August 15, 1994 a brief hearing was held; Respondent filed a Motion for Rehearing; on October 13, 1994 the Referee issued orders on both matters. The Board of Governors declined to request review. Respondent filed his Petition for Review on November 26, 1994. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 3-7.7 of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar.

II. MATERIAL FACTS

(Transcript references are to the two-volume transcript of the March 28, 1994 hearing, unless otherwise indicated.)

Respondent Harold Behrman is a 79-year-old attorney licensed in Florida and New York. After being admitted into the New York Bar in 1939, Respondent practiced law for approximately two-and-one half years (before entering military service in World War II). After his honorable discharge, Respondent engaged in business, opening a number of retail outlets which sold women's jewelry and accessories. Eventually, Respondent sold the business. In 1987, Respondent passed the Florida Bar and was admitted to practice in this State. (Tr. 16-18). Subsequently, he had a modest law practice, involving some personal injury cases (Tr. 20) and had no disciplinary problems in connection therewith.

Eventually, when Respondent was planning to relocate his office closer to Miami, he happened to meet one R. Mark Hunter, who told Respondent that he was a Pennsylvania attorney who did not practice law, but instead was a broker who assisted entrepreneurs to obtain financing from their own sources, by providing them with guarantees from his clients, who would furnish such guarantees to institutional lenders, in return for a fee. (Tr. 27-28). Hunter suggested that Respondent might want to lease office space from Hunter, who was located in North Miami. Respondent entered into a lease arrangement with Hunter. (Tr. 26-27).

In the early fall of 1991, Hunter asked Respondent to consider serving as escrow agent for borrowers' funds in connection with the types of financial transactions he had previously described. (Tr. 30-31). Hunter told Respondent that borrowers would remit a small percentage of the total amount they wished to borrow from institutional lenders of their own choosing, and that these remitted sums would be utilized by Hunter's clients (investor entities named Altima and Koning) in their activities, as a predicate to the offering of the guarantees in question. (Tr. 31).

In response to Respondent's request for documentation, Hunter showed him a contract form of the nature he used with prospective borrowers, explaining that it was typical of the documents that he would be using in the arrangements he was asking Respondent to serve as escrow agent. (Tr. 31-33). Respondent read the form, and said that he would be willing to be an escrow agent on these terms. (Tr. 32-33). Hunter noted to Behrman that the contract required that the investors had to give deposits up front to permit processing of an application. (Tr. 31-32).

Hunter further explained to Respondent that if the funding was not effectuated, at least two

thirds of the escrowed funds would be remitted to each of the potential borrowers by Hunter's client, Altima or Koning. The provision was clearly set forth in the contract and in fact executed by the very borrowers themselves, in paragraph 20 of each contract. *See* Bar Exhibits 6 and 19 and Respondent's Exhibit "A", introduced at the March 28, 1994 trial. (Tr. 151-52; 244-45, 251).

Hunter further explained to Respondent that the portion of the deposit not returned would have been expended for the costs and expenses relating to the prospective guarantors' activities, and would include a \$1,000.00 fee to Respondent for each of the loan transactions. (Tr. 33).

Indeed, one potential borrower, a Capt. Eslie Birchwood, had two-thirds of his \$ 25,000 deposit returned to him by Hunter after Hunter did not come through with a funding guarantee. At the hearing herein, Birchwood confirmed receipt of this money (Tr. 143), and further confirmed that he had signed a contract (Bar Exhibit 6) containing the same Paragraph 20 which stated that the Escrow Agent (Respondent) would be directed to return to Birchwood's company, Sunbird Airways, the commitment fee, less as much as one-third. (Tr. 151-53). Birchwood so testified at the trial before the Referee. (Tr. 143). (Although Birchwood testified that he did speak to Respondent on the phone on occasions, subsequent to his remitting the funds, Carol Gunter Hunter's secretary, says that in all the calls she took from Capt. Birchwood, he asked to speak to Mr. Hunter, never to Respondent. (Tr. 167).

(Birchwood also gave a Release in exchange for that refund. The Referee initially recommended that Respondent make restitution to Birchwood for the \$1,000 fee Respondent had received out of Birchwood's deposit. At the August 15, 1994 hearing on the Bar's Motion for Clarification, in response to Respondent's representation that Birchwood had confirmed receipt of the two-thirds refund that his contract provided for, and had given a Release therefor, the Referee

stated that he would withdraw his recommendation of restitution to Birchwood if Respondent would furnish a copy of that Release. Respondent did so, attaching it as Exhibit C to Respondent's Motion for Rehearing, filed over Certificate of service of September 9, 1994. Nonetheless, the Referee refused to withdraw his recommendation that Respondent refund to Birchwood that \$1,000 fee.)

Respondent thereupon set up a single IOTA trust escrow account, dedicated to the escrowing of funds to be received by Hunter from the prospective borrowers who would be dealing with Hunter's clients. In addition to files containing the contracts, Respondent retained his trust account bank statements, and thus had full records of the transactions, although Respondent did not maintain separate files or ledgers, as required by Rule 5-1.2(b) of the Rules Regulating the Trust Accounts.

In each instance, upon being advised by Hunter that disbursements were to be made, Respondent complied with these instructions, since these instructions were wholly in accordance with the terms of the executed contracts which he had been given. Prior to such disbursements, the only contact between Respondent and any of the borrowers who had been dealing with Hunter, was his receipt of checks made out to his trust account, as he expected they would be. He was never involved in any negotiations with them leading to and execution of the contract or disbursements of the funds. At no time prior to disbursing any of said borrowers' funds did Respondent ever have any other contact with the borrowers.

At Hunter's direction, instead of making disbursement checks payable to Hunter's entities Altima Investments, N.V. Koning Investment Capital, N.V., Respondent on occasion would make checks payable to R. Mark Hunter and/or his business partner, John Allen. Hunter had represented to Respondent that, if the checks were instead made out to Altima or Koning, there would be a lengthy delay as Respondent's trust disbursements checks cleared the recipient banks and while the entities' checks thereafter sent on and cleared, and that by making out the checks directly to Hunter or his business partner, for delivery to Altima, this was accelerated. The disbursements were for the intended purpose. As Respondent had received written instructions from Altima and Koning that he should follow directions from Hunter as the agent for those entities, Respondent had every reason to regard Hunter's instructions as totally authorized and proper. (Tr. 68-71; the document, entitled, "Appointment of Counsel", directing Respondent to follow the directions of Hunter in disbursing escrow funds, is attached as an exhibit to respondent's "Motion for Reconsideration.)

On one occasion, Respondent wrote a check from the trust account for \$500.00, payable to "Mark Hunter" for the purpose of paying Respondent's office rent for February of 1992. (*See* Exhibit to Report of Referee.) As Respondent was entitled to a total of \$4,000.00 in escrow agent fees for the four separate transactions in which he served as escrow agent, he regarded it as appropriate to pay the personal obligation directly, as payment still would not bring the amount he had withdrawn for his own use to the \$4,000.00 to which he was ultimately entitled in fees. Respondent readily acknowledges that the more appropriate method would have been for him to have paid out those fees to himself, depositing them into his operating account, and thereafter remitting and disbursing his own rent payment from the operating account.

Respondent could not know that mail, faxes and other material addressed to Respondent were being diverted by Hunter or his secretary, Carol Gunter, acting at Hunter's instructions. Gunter testified that 98 to 99 percent of items addressed to Respondent were first seen by Hunter. (Tr. 164-65). Even telephone calls to Respondent were first screened by Hunter. (*Ibid.*). Hunter sometimes withheld items from Respondent. (Tr. 166). Gunter even saw Hunter rifling through Respondent's files and extracting letters and faxes, which he would then throw away or destroy. (Tr. 167). As noted, Respondent called John Dodds to testify at the March 28, 1994 hearing before the Referee (Tr. 223-249). Mr. Dodds confirmed that, as he had told Bar counsel in 1992, he believed that Respondent had been duped by Hunter, just as he and other investors had been. (Tr. 248). Indeed, Mr. Dodds and his business partner, Charles Crabtree, had been skeptical of giving any more money to Hunter, as Hunter had previously lost \$50,000.00 of their money, which they had given to him for a similar purpose. Hunter had simply told them that he had been "conned" by the people with whom he had dealt, and was requesting more money from them. Dodds testified (Tr. 226-229) that he and his partner were being assured by Hunter that their funds would be escrowed, then agreed to give him an additional \$23,000.00 in October, 1991. At no time did either of these men have any contact with Respondent other than to be introduced to him perfunctorily while in the office visiting Hunter; Dodds was never led to believe that Respondent was Hunter's business associate. (Tr. 231-32).

When investor Blanton finally contacted Respondent directly, complaining that he had not had any word about the status of the transaction (Tr. 53), Respondent sought his files and records to investigate the matter, and found that all of these had been taken from his office. Hunter denied any knowledge of their whereabouts. However, Hunter's secretary, Carol Gunter, testified at the hearing that it was common for Hunter, in Respondent's absence, to enter Respondent's office and remove files and to extract papers and records therefrom, without ever telling Respondent. When the Florida Bar contacted Respondent, he had to rely upon Hunter's representations to him that all of these matters were being resolved with the borrowers to their satisfaction. As Respondent had seen contracts providing that up to one-third of the amounts remitted by investors could be retained by Hunter, and had as yet received no communication to the contrary from investors, he felt that Hunter was telling the truth and advised the Bar in his September 16, 1992 letter that the transactions had been successfully concluded to the satisfaction of all parties. The Florida Bar filed a complaint on June 1, 1993, charging Respondent in four counts as follows:

<u>Count I</u>: That by virtue of his receipt and disbursement of the money sent by Dodds and his partner, Crabtree, Respondent committed acts which: were unlawful or contrary to honesty and justice (Rule 3-4.3); constituted criminal misconduct (Rule 3-4.4); violated the rules of conduct or assisted another to do so (Rule 4-8.4(a)); committed criminal acts reflecting adversely on Respondent's honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer (Rule 4-8.4(b)); engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation (Rule 4-8.4(c)): and violated the Rule requiring that he apply money entrusted to him for a specific purpose to that purpose (Rule 5-1.1(a)).

<u>Count II</u>: That by virtue of his receipt and disbursement of the money sent by Blanton, Respondent committed the same acts in violation of the same Rules;

<u>Count III</u>: That by virtue of his no longer having the trust account records (which were stolen from his office) and not producing them for inspection on demand of the Florida Bar, Respondent violated Rules 5-1.1(d) and 5-1.2(b), requiring maintenance of minimum trust account records;

<u>Count IV</u>: That by stating in his September 16, 1992 response letter to the Bar that all transactions in which he had acted as escrow agent were successfully concluded to the satisfaction of the parties, Respondent violated Rule 4-8.1(a), the proscription against making material false statement in connection with disciplinary matter, and Rule 4-8.4(c), the proscription against engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation.

On November 16, 1992, the Florida Bar filed a Petition for Emergency Suspension of

Respondent, which was granted on November 25, 1992. On December 7, 1992, in a meeting in the Florida Bar office, Respondent reluctantly filed a Petition for Resignation, which he subsequently moved to withdraw, and said Petition was granted by this Honorable Court on April 15, 1993.

A May, 1993 motion by Respondent to lift the emergency suspension was opposed by the Bar and was denied. On June 1, 1993, the Bar filed its complaint. Respondent filed a renewed Motion to Dissolve Emergency Suspension, which motion was granted and Respondent was reinstated effective February 23, 1994, after having been subjected to an emergency suspension of approximately fifteen months' duration. It is also noted that Respondent was subjected to extremely pointed publicity, virtually alleging that he was personally guilty of intentional fraudulent acts, in at least one newspaper article which appeared in or about December, 1992.

Pretrial proceedings and discovery were held, in the course of which the Florida Bar on January 5, 1994 deposed Respondent, his former employee Ryder Littlehale and Hunter's former secretary, Carol Gunter. Gunter testified, as she later did at trial, to Respondent having been denied all contact with the borrowers and his being denied knowledge of those borrowers' attempts to contact him. Nonetheless, the Bar did not withdraw or amend any of its claims or allegations.

The refusal of the Florida Bar to withdraw the most egregious claims (those alleging criminal acts, fraud, dishonesty, etc., relative to Rules 3-4.3, 3-4.4 and 4-8.4) cannot be justified. Not only did the depositions make it clear that Respondent had been prevented from knowing facts by Hunter's fraudulent concealment of information and by his interception of communications directed to Respondent, but in fact the Florida Bar staff counsel had admitted to complainant Dodds in conversations beginning in October 1992 that she realized that it may well have been the case that Respondent had been a victim of Hunter's duplicity and had been used by Hunter, and that

Respondent's wrongdoing had consisted instead of failing to check directly with Dodds to get his express permission before disbursing his funds, and that Respondent accordingly had failed to live up to his independent obligation as an escrow agent. Dodds so testified. (Tr. 234-239). Dodds further testified that he told Bar staff counsel that he felt Respondent was a victim of Hunter, and that she intimated that she agreed but felt that Respondent had "abused" the use of the escrow account. (Tr. 248). Clearly the Referee agreed that Respondent did not intentionally violate his obligations, as he absolved Respondent of wrongdoing under Rules 3-4.3, 3-4.4 and 4-8.4; had the Bar amended its complaint to delete these clearly unwarranted charges once it became aware of the lack of foundation therefor, the need for a trial and the attendant costs (which should not be assessed against Respondent) and the resulting expenses and burden to Respondent and his witnesses and counsel, would all have been obviated.

A hearing by way of a full day trial was held on March 28, 1994. Testimony and evidence were adduced as indicated above. Interestingly, the Bar declined to call investor Dodds, one of the two persons whose complaints had prompted this investigation; instead Respondent called him to attest to Respondent's lack of involvement, as the Bar well knew he would.

On June 23, 1994, the Referee filed his Report finding the Respondent guilty of not adhering to proper trust accounting procedures, in violation of Rules 5-1.1(a), 5-1.1(c), 5-1.1(d) and 5-1.2(b) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, but found that Respondent was not guilty of violating Rules 3-4.3, 3-4.4, 4-8.4(a), (b) and (c) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

As to the finding of a violation of trust accounting rules, under Rule 5-1.1(a), the Referee found that:

[t]he respondent as an escrow agent, had the duty to hold the monies received in

trust, and to apply those monies for the purposes entrusted. The respondent testified that he disbursed, in reliance on a missing contract. This referee concludes respondent did not comply with the standards as set forth in Rule 5-1.1(a).

The Referee made no factual finding, and referred to no testimony or other evidence which even hinted that, Respondent knew or should have known that his disbursements were inconsistent with the investors' intentions.

The Referee attached to his report a fax which Blanton said he sent to Respondent. However, Blanton admits he sent it to Hunter's fax number, (Tr. 104) and that when he called to confirm that the money had been received, he spoke with Hunter, not Respondent. (Tr. 93-94). Respondent never received it (Tr. 255). Respondent's secretary Gunter testified that faxes (as well as mail and telephone messages) to Respondent were intercepted by Hunter (Tr. 164-167).

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