027

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 7 1995

3/21

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

~~BY~~ Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

HAROLD BEHRMAN,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case
No. 81,866

The Florida Bar File
Nos. 93-70,213(11G)
93-70,455(11G)

COMPLAINANT'S ANSWER BRIEF

ARLENE K. SANKEL
Bar Counsel
Florida Bar No. 272981
The Florida Bar
444 Brickell Avenue
Suite M-100
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 377-4445

JOHN T. BERRY
Staff Counsel
Florida Bar No. 217395
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399
(904) 561-5839

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR.
Executive Director
Florida Bar No. 123390
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The findings of fact made by the Referee are neither clearly erroneous nor lacking in evidentiary support and are fully supported by the record before the Referee and this court. Moreover, a Referee's findings of fact enjoy a presumption of correctness and will be upheld unless that presumption is overcome by a showing that the findings lack competent substantial supporting evidence or are clearly erroneous. The Respondent has failed to satisfy his burden and has not been able to overcome the presumption of correctness. The Referee was able to first hand observe the witnesses directly and to render judgment as to issues of credibility and weight of evidence. Those judgments, as reflected by the Report of Referee, are supported by the evidence although contrary to the Respondent's position.

The Referee recommended a disciplinary sanction which includes a non-rehabilitative period of suspension, taxation of costs, and restitution. Such a disciplinary sanction is appropriate in light of the Referee's findings of fact and rule violations which include failure to disburse in accord with Respondents' duties as escrow agent, failure to utilize trust funds for the purpose for which entrusted, and failure to comply with trust accounting procedures and record keeping requirements.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE CORRECTLY FOUND THAT RESPONDENT DISBURSED FUNDS IN VIOLATION OF HIS DUTIES AS ESCROW AGENT.

Unless clearly erroneous or lacking in competent substantial evidence, a Report of Referee is presumed to be correct and will be upheld. The Florida Bar v. Winderman, 614 So. 2d 484 (Fla. 1993); The Florida Bar v. Smiley, 622 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 1993). Having sought review of the Referee's Report, the burden is upon the Respondent to show that the Referee's findings were either clearly in error or lacking evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. McClure, 575 So. 2d 176 (Fla. 1991). Respondent fails to satisfy his burden and to overcome the presumption of correctness inherent in the Referee's Report.

While the evidence produced at trial showed that assorted investors were defrauded by R. Mark Hunter, that does not lessen Respondent's obligations and responsibilities with regard to those who entrusted their funds to him. Clearly Dodds, Blanton, and Birchwood all felt secure in entrusting their funds to Respondent precisely because they believed their money would be safe within the sanctity of the attorney trust account. As the evidence also showed, these investors took additional steps in their attempts to make clear the terms under which they were entrusting their funds to Respondent. Respondent failed to live up to their trust and to his obligations.

The record does not support Respondent's contention that he disbursed funds in accordance with his duties as escrow agent. Rather, the record indicates that Respondent claims to have disbursed in reliance on missing contracts, as well as a blank contract containing boilerplate language. The Bar's position continues to be that even the blank contract and commitments on which Respondent claims to have relied does not authorize the disbursement of the escrow funds.

The Florida Bar exhibits 6, 9, and 19 consist of Commitments to Purchase Certificates of Deposit. Paragraph six of those commitments states that disbursements from the commitment fee escrow account will be applied to the purchase of the certificate of deposit. However, the testimony and documentary evidence are undisputed that no certificate of deposits were ever provided. Moreover, Respondent always disbursed from the escrow account with checks made payable directly to Hunter and/or Hunter's purported associate, John Allen. Checks were never payable to the entities which Hunter purportedly represented. Disbursement in this manner is not consistent with even Respondent's version of an authorized disbursement.

The questionable circumstances under which Respondent disbursed the funds were sufficient to cause a reasonable person to inquire as to the propriety of the transaction. This is even more true where the escrow agent is an attorney as lawyers especially must be circumspect in their conduct when handling funds belonging to others. Williams v. Hunt Brothers Construction, Inc., 475 So. 2d 738 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). The evidence and testimony clearly support the Referee's findings that Respondent disbursed funds in violation of his duties as an escrow agent.

II. THE REFEREE CORRECTLY FOUND THAT RESPONDENT WAS GUILTY OF VIOLATING RULE 5-1.1(a) WHICH REQUIRES THAT MONEY RECEIVED IN TRUST BE USED FOR THE PURPOSES ENTRUSTED.

Rule 5-1.1(a) of the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

Money or other property entrusted to an attorney for a specific purpose, including advances for costs and expenses, is held in trust and must be applied only to that purpose.

Judge Jaffe recommended that Respondent be found guilty of violating 5-1.1(a) of the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts. Review of the Report of Referee (Appendix A) indicates that recommendation was predicated upon the Referee's finding that Respondent disbursed escrow deposit funds within days of receiving same and further, that such disbursement was contrary to the conditions of its deposit with Respondent. The Referee's findings are overwhelmingly supported by the testimony and evidence presented to him.

Rule 5-1.1(a) stands on its own and operates independently of any other rule provision. Contrary to Respondent's position, it need not be read in conjunction with Rule 4-1.15(a) which in essence is the rule which prohibits an attorney's commingling of a client or third person's funds. By its terms, Rule 4-1.15(a) specifically applies to situations in which the funds are in a lawyer's position in connection with a representation. Rule 5-1.1(a) is not as limited in its scope and in fact is the applicable rule for situations where an attorney is acting as an escrow agent.

This court has repeatedly held that even when acting in a personal matter, an attorney can be held professionally accountable. The Florida Bar v. Hefty, 213 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 1968). Attorneys must avoid tarnishing the professional image or damaging the public. The Florida Bar v. Della-Donna, 583 So. 2d 307 (Fla. 1989). Even if one were to accept Respondent's tenuous argument that

no attorney-client relationship existed, the fact is he can and will be held professionally accountable nonetheless.

Finally, fact finding responsibilities in disciplinary proceedings rest with the Referee. The Florida Bar v. Hirsch, 359 So. 2d 856 (Fla. 1978). Such findings are presumed to be correct and should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Stalnaker, 485 So. 2d 815 (Fla. 1986). The record before this Honorable Court clearly and overwhelmingly sets forth support for the Referee's findings. Accordingly, Respondent has failed to satisfy the burden and the Referee's findings should not be disturbed.

III. THE REFEREE CORRECTLY FOUND THAT RESPONDENT FAILED TO COMPLY WITH TRUST ACCOUNTING RULES 5-1.1(d) AND 5-1.2(b) WHEN HE ISSUED A CHECK IN PAYMENT OF RENT FROM HIS TRUST ACCOUNT.

Respondent himself concedes that he was in technical violation of trust account regulations when he disbursed a rent check directly from his trust account to Hunter. Although he seeks to downplay the seriousness of such an offense, he does not deny it.

The rules specifically require that certain minimum trust accounting records be maintained and that certain minimum trust account procedures be followed. Respondent failed to maintain such records and abide by such procedures. This resulted in the Referee's finding of guilt as to trust accounting violations. See The Florida Bar v. Neely, 488 So. 2d 535 (Fla. 1986). If Respondent believed he had properly earned the \$1,000.00 fee per escrow transaction, those funds should have been removed from his trust account and placed in his operating account. Finally, the Referee's findings indicate that not only was the issuance of the check contrary to the rule requirements, but that Respondent failed to maintain his trust account records in accordance with regulatory requirements.

The Bar takes issue with Respondent's position that failing to disburse fees from the trust account to the operating account is akin to money retained pursuant to a proper retaining lien. Obviously, a retaining lien is properly exercised where an attorney retains physical possession of documents or funds belonging to a client as a result of fees and costs due the attorney for services rendered that client. However, property entrusted for a specific purpose is not subject to a retaining lien regardless of outstanding attorney's fees.

IV. THE REFEREE PROPERLY RECOMMENDED THAT RESPONDENT BE SUSPENDED AS A RESULT OF HIS MISCONDUCT.

At the culmination of the trial in this cause, the Referee concluded that the Respondent had violated Rules 5-1.1(a) (Money held in trust must be applied only to the purpose for which entrusted), 5-1.1(c) and (d) (preservation of trust account records and maintenance of trust account procedures), and 5-1.2(b) (minimum trust account records) of the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts. As a result of that misconduct, the Referee recommended that the disciplinary sanction imposed include a ninety (90) day suspension. (Appendix "A"). The Referee's recommendation was appropriate in light of his findings of fact and is supported by the record and preceding case law.

Failure to deliver over funds of a third party which have been entrusted for a particular purpose and which have been held in trust is a most serious matter. Where, however, the funds were entrusted specifically because the party holding them is an attorney, it is even more egregious. After all, lawyers especially must be circumspect in their conduct when handling funds belonging to others. The Florida Bar v. Ruskin, 232 So. 2d 13 (Fla. 1970).

Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, Section 7.0, provides that suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional and causes injury or potential injury to a client, the public, or the legal system. Having found Respondent guilty of misconduct with regard to his duties as escrow agent and such misconduct resulting in injury to various parties, suspension is clearly the appropriate sanction.

An example of the seriousness with which misuse of escrow funds and violation of fiduciary duty is viewed is The Florida Bar v. Golden, 566 So. 2d 1286 (Fla. 1990). In Golden, the respondent received a five year disbarment having been found guilty of misconduct for the second time.

Although the underlying facts in Golden evidence an intent by that respondent to clearly sacrifice other's rights in order to benefit himself, this case is pointed out as an indicator of the seriousness with which violation of attorney's fiduciary duties is viewed.

In The Florida Bar v. Collier, 458 So. 2d 266 (Fla. 1984), the respondent received a three year suspension having been found guilty of various rule violations including failure to apply entrusted money of clients to the purpose for which entrusted. In The Florida Bar v. Condon, 632 So. 2d 70 (Fla. 1994), the respondent received an eighteen month suspension having been found guilty of comingling, using client funds for purposes unrelated to the client's business, and other trust accounting violations.

The practice of law is a privilege which carries with it responsibilities, as well as rights. When one violates their responsibilities as an attorney, they must expect to be disciplined for such a transgression. Suspension is the appropriate discipline for Respondent's misconduct.

V. THE REFEREE PROPERLY RECOMMENDED THAT RESPONDENT BEAR THE COST OF THESE PROCEEDINGS.

Rule 3-7.6(k)(1)(E) was the rule applicable to costs at the time the Report of Referee was entered in this cause. The rule provides for the Referee's Report to include a statement of costs by The Florida Bar and a recommendation as to the manner in which such costs should be taxed. Costs of disciplinary proceedings are defined to include investigative costs, travel and out of pocket expenses, court reporters' fees, copy costs, witness and traveling expenses, and a \$500.00 charge for administrative costs. It further provides that costs taxed shall be payable to The Florida Bar. While the rule does not specifically address the factors involved in determining the taxability of costs, case law clearly provides that taxing of costs is discretionary with the Referee. Moreover, where the Bar prevails, the Bar should and historically has recovered its costs. The Florida Bar v. Davis, 419 So. 2d 325 (Fla. 1982).

Respondent's argument regarding his being taxed the Bar's costs in these proceedings is fatally flawed and must fail. First and foremost, the Bar prevailed in this cause. Although conveniently ignored by Respondent in his argument, the fact remains that the Referee, like the Bar, found Respondent's actions to be violative of the rules regulating attorney conduct. Respondent's statements throughout his brief that trial in this matter and the resulting costs were unnecessary is simply not true. Trial in this matter was unavoidable as were the resulting costs. Respondent seems to think that the testimony of secretary Carol Gunter was sufficient to exonerate him of all allegations of wrongdoing. Not only does the Bar take issue with this assessment of the witness' testimony, but apparently so does the Referee as evidenced by his findings. Moreover, even if one were to interpret Dodds' testimony in a similar fashion to Respondent, witnesses Blanton's and

Birchwood's testimony cannot be interpreted as vindicating Respondent. In fact, just the contrary is true. Moreover, contrary to the statements contained in Respondent's brief, his September 16, 1992, letter to the Bar does not offer to make restitution of the fees kept by him. Rather, it only offers to return same to his trust account which is hardly the same thing as returning the money to its rightful owner.

All costs sought by The Florida Bar and taxed against the Respondent are clearly and expressly provided for in Rule 3-7.6(k)(1)(E), Rules of Discipline, and Rule 5-1.1(c) and 5-1.2(e) of the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts, the latter applying to the costs of audit. Rules 5-1.1(c) and 5-1.2(e) clearly provide that when necessitated by failure to maintain requisite trust account records or failure to produce such records upon direction, grounds exist for disciplinary action without regard to any other matter. Further, the cost of audit and investigation necessitated by such failure may be taxed against a respondent. Respondent completely ignores the fact that his failure to produce subpoenaed trust account records and documentation, coupled with the seriousness of the complaints filed against him, necessitated and warranted the resulting audit and investigation.

Finally, as the testimony of witnesses Blanton and Birchwood was necessary to evidence the efforts undertaken by these two investors to secure the safety of their deposit money, the Referee properly taxed the associated costs against the Respondent.

In The Florida Bar v. Wilson, 616 So. 2d 953 (Fla. 1993), the full amount of the Bar's costs were taxed to the respondent even though he was not found guilty of all the allegations against him. The court specifically found that the auditor's costs and court reporter's fees involved both proven and unproven charges and that the charges could not be readily segregated. The difficulty in segregating the costs coupled with the fact that respondent's misconduct caused the initiation of both

proven and unproven charges, resulted in the court's finding no abuse of discretion in the referee's taxation of costs to respondent.

The taxing of costs is historically a discretionary matter properly within the province of the Referee. The Referee did not abuse his discretion in taxing the costs of these proceedings against the Respondent.

VI. THE REFEREE PROPERLY RECOMMENDED THAT RESPONDENT BE REQUIRED TO PAY RESTITUTION.

Rule 3-5.1(i) provides that in addition to other disciplinary sanctions, a respondent may also be ordered or agree to pay restitution "to a complainant or other person" if the disciplinary order finds that the respondent received a clearly excessive, illegal, or prohibited fee or has converted trust funds or property. Clearly, having heard the testimony and viewed the evidence presented to him, the Referee concluded that restitution of the "fee portion" of the victims' money was appropriate. Interestingly enough, Respondent argues that the Referee erred in recommending the restitution which Respondent now claims, for the first time, that he was willing to make all along.

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